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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI
EASTERN DIVISION

HUBBS MACHINE &
MANUFACTURING, INC.
a Missouri Corporation

Plaintiff,
Case No.
V.
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
BRUNSON INSTRUMENT CO.,
a Missouri corporation,

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant.
COMPLAINT
COMES NOW, Plaintiff, Hubbs Machine & Manufacturing, Inc. (hereinafter
“Hubbs Machine”), by and through its attorneys, and for its cause of action against
Defendant Brunson Instrument Co. (hereinafter “Brunson”) states as follows:

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This is a Complaint for trademark infringement and false designation of
origin in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1051 et seq. and, trademark dilution in violation of Mo.
Rev. Stat. § 417.060 et seq. (2008), common law trademark infringement, and unfair
competition.

2. This Court has original jurisdiction over the subject matter of the claims
stated herein pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§ 1116 and 1121, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1332,
1338(a), and this Court has related claim jurisdiction over the state law claims under 28
U.S.C. §1338(b) and 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

3. The amount in controversy exceeds the sum of Seventy-Five Thousand

Dollars ($75,000) sustained as damages to Hubbs Machine, exclusive of interests and
1
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costs.

4. Personal jurisdiction exists over Brunson in this district because upon
information and belief at least as early as July 2005, Brunson began offering for sale in
commerce reflector sphere mounts and adapters under the name “SM,” and these
adapters and reflector mounts are now available for sale through select dealers and by
catalog from the greater St. Louis, Missouri area and in other states and Brunson
regularly does business in this district and in the State of Missouri.

5. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 (b) and (c)
because this is the judicial district (i) where a substantial part of the events giving rise to
the claims have occurred; and (ii) where Brunson conducts business.

THE PARTIES

6. Plaintiff, Hubbs Machine & Manufacturing Inc., is and at all times
mentioned herein was, a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Missouri,
having its principal place of business at 6282 Rocky Grove, Cedar Hill, Missouri 63016.
Hubbs Machine owns the registration of the SM Mark as in Exhibit 1. Hubbs Machine is
engaged in the business of making close tolerance industrial survey targets, adaptors,
and mounts among other items, and marketing of the same.

7. Upon information and belief, Defendant, Brunson Instrument Co., is a
corporation organized under the laws of the State of Missouri, having its principal place
of business at 8000 East 23" Street, Kansas City, Missouri 64129. Brunson holds an
ISO 9001:2000 certification. Brunson is engaged in the business of making reflector
sphere mounts and adapters among other items, and marketing of the same.

COMMON FACTS

2
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8. Hubbs Machine was founded in 1987 in Cedar Hill, Missouri. Since then
Hubbs Machine has made metals and other materials into optical survey targets at
precise tolerances for visible light, infra red light, and laser light for usage in a wide
variety of measurement targets, mounts, and adaptors among other things. These
targets and devices are part of metrology activities.

9. Hubbs Machine is the owner of the following U.S. Trademark Registration
on the Principal Register of the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office: Reg. No. 3,531,432
for “SM” registered on November 11, 2008. Since that registration date, Hubbs Machine
has been and still is the user and owner of that registered trademark. A true and correct
copy of the SM registration is attached hereto as Exhibit 1, and incorporated by
reference herein pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1115(a).

10.  Hubbs Machine has developed and uses the SM Mark as its primary
trademark and its house mark which consists of selected letters in combination. Hubbs
Machine has continuously and systematically used the SM Mark for many years to
identify its high quality sphere mounts among other things. The SM Mark has become
distinctive as an indicator of this family of metrology products, particularly sphere
mounts made by Hubbs Machine.

11.  Hubbs Machine has established an association in the public’s mind with
the SM Mark as the designation of origin associated with Hubbs Machine’s products
including for targeting products, and sphere mounts.

12.  Hubbs Machine has built an impressive and profitable business as a result
of the quality of the products it makes and timely delivery of the same. Hubbs Machine’s
SM brand targeting products, and sphere mounts are sold throughout the United States

3
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and overseas.

13.  Over the past eighteen or more years, Hubbs Machine has invested
thousands of dollars and substantial amounts of time and effort in developing,
establishing, advertising, and promoting the SM Mark upon its products. As Hubbs
Machine has grown, its marketing expenditures have grown to match proportionally and
in particular for the SM Mark.

14.  Since the inception of usage of these marks, Hubbs Machine’s marketing
guidelines are designed to ensure that Hubbs Machine’s current advertising, marketing,
and promotional items prominently feature the SM Mark. Hubbs Machine promotes and
advertises its goods and services in connection with the SM Mark through many forms
of media, including print, catalog, Internet, and trade shows.

15.  Upon information and belief, Brunson is a Missouri corporation founded in
1946, has an office and a factory in Kansas City, Missouri. Brunson has used in
commerce without authority Hubbs Machine’s SM Mark in connection with the
promotion, advertising and sale of reflector mounts among other items. Upon
information and belief, Brunson’s use of the distinctive SM Mark is an attempt to usurp
Hubbs Machine’s reputation, renown, and trademarks.

16. Upon information and belief, Brunson has manufactured on its behalf,
offered for sale, or sold in commerce adapters, and reflector mounts under the name
“SM” and these adapters, and reflector mounts are now available through a catalog in
the St. Louis, Missouri area, the brunson.us website and the brunsonkc.com website, a

dealer in Kansas City, Missouri, other dealers in nine states and other dealers overseas.
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17.  Upon information and belief, Brunson competes directly with Hubbs
Machine in the sale of targeting products, adapters, and reflector mounts and Brunson’s
goods are marketed to a broad demographic range of customers and dealers across the
United States and overseas and therefore encounter significant overlap with Hubbs
Machine. Brunson markets its goods through many of the same channels of trade as
does Hubbs Machine including trade shows.

18.  Brunson also displays the SM Mark upon its products and true and correct
photographs of an adapter are attached as Exhibits 2, 3, 4 and incorporated herein.

19.  Brunson also displays the SM Mark in its price list identifying its various
products and a true and correct copy of Brunson’s 2007 price list is attached as Exhibit
5 and incorporated herein.

20. Brunson maintains a website at ‘www.brunson.us and at
‘www.brunsonkc.com providing company and product information, customer service,
contact resources, and on-line product purchasing. On various pages of its website
‘www.brunson.us, Brunson prominently displays several of its products for purchase in
close proximity to the SM Mark. True and correct copies of Brunson’s webpages are
attached as Exhibits 6, 7, 8 and incorporated herein.

21.  Brunson offers for sale and sells at its dealer locations, through
distributors, and via its online shopping website various products including the SM Mark
and these products include but are not limited to Drift Nests, Spherical Mount Adapters,
Reference Target Mounts, Vector Target Adapters, and related Accessories. True and
correct copies of Brunson’s catalog pages are attached as Exhibits 9 through 32 and

incorporated herein.
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22.  Brunson has used in commerce and offered for sale a sphere mount
having a counterfeit mark and a spurious designation identical to the registered SM
Mark of Hubbs Machine as in Exhibit 33 incorporated herein.

23. Brunson is and was at all relevant times at least constructively aware of
Hubbs Machine's prior use and ownership of the SM Mark.

24.  Brunson’s unauthorized use of the SM Mark for the promotion of and in
connection with the sale of adapters, and reflector mounts is likely to cause confusion or
mistake, or deceive customers, potential customers, and the relevant public as to the
source or sponsorship of its products and as to its affiliation with Hubbs Machine,
thereby causing harm to Hubbs Machine’s reputation and goodwill.

25.  Brunson’s use of the SM Mark for the promotion of and in connection with
the sale of adapters, and reflector mounts has infringed and diluted the distinctive
quality of Hubbs Machine’s SM Mark, thereby causing harm to Hubbs Machine’s
reputation and goodwill.

COUNT I
Federal Trademark Infringement
15 U.S.C. §§ 1114 (1)(a)(b)

26. Hubbs Machine repeats and realleges the allegations contained in
paragraphs 1 through 25 above as if fully set forth herein.

27. Brunson has used and continues to use in commerce reproductions,
counterfeits, copies, or colorable imitations of the registered SM mark without the
consent of Hubbs Machine in connection with the sale, offering for sale, distribution, or
advertising of adapters, and reflector mounts which use is likely to cause confusion or

mistake, or to deceive.
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28.  Brunson is violating and has violated 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1)(a) in that it has
used the SM Mark in commerce.

29. Brunson has reproduced, counterfeited, copied, or colorably imitated
Hubbs Machine’s registered SM Mark and continues to do so and applied such to
labels, signs, prints, packages, wrappers, and advertisements intended to be used in
commerce upon or in connection with the sale, offering for sale, distribution, or
advertising of adapters, and reflector mounts.

30. Brunson is violating and has also violated 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1)(b) in that
Brunson has applied a reproduction, counterfeit, copy, or colorable imitation of the SM
Mark to advertising among other things.

31.  The use of the SM Mark by Brunson is likely to cause confusion, mistake,
and deception among the purchasing public.

32.  Brunson’s usage of the SM Mark without the authorization of Hubbs
Machine erroneously attributes the origin of the mark to Brunson and serves as a
spurious designation.

33.  Brunson’s use of the SM Mark has caused and will cause further loss of
goodwill and profits to Hubbs Machine, damage the reputation of genuine Hubbs
Machine branded goods and services, unjustly enrich Brunson, and injure the public by
causing confusion, mistake, and deception.

34. By committing the acts alleged herein, Brunson has intentionally,
knowingly, and willfully infringed the mark of Hubbs Machine.

35. Because of Brunson’s infringement, Hubbs Machine has been irreparably
harmed in its business, and Hubbs Machine will continue to suffer irreparable harm

7
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befall it if Brunson’s acts proceed. Hubbs

kelihood that it will succeed on the merits of

»bs Machine to recover the profits of
Brunson, Hubbs Machine’s damages and the costs of this action pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
§ 1117(a).

37. Hubbs Machine is also entitled to treble damages as a result of Brunson’s
intentional acts pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a).

38.  Brunson’s conduct in counterfeiting the SM Mark of Hubbs Machine
entitles Hubbs Machine to recover the greater of three times the profits or damages with
a reasonable attorney’s fee and interest upon the award pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §
1117(b).

39. Because of Brunson’s counterfeiting of the SM Mark, Hubbs Machine
retains the right to elect statutory damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117(c).

40. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1116(a), Hubbs Machine seeks preliminary and
permanent injunctive relief to prevent Brunson’s continued use of the SM Mark, as
damages from trademark infringement cannot be adequately calculated or Hubbs
Machine cannot be entirely compensated in money damages, and also there is a
substantial likelihood that Hubbs Machine will succeed on the merits of this action.

WHEREFORE, Hubbs Machine prays for judgment as follows:

8































































